RULES OF THE CROCKETT COUNTY GROUNDWATER CONSERVATION DISTRICT

As Adopted Effective July 1, 2013

Table of Contents

Preamble: Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District		
Article 1: Introduction and Regulatory Authority	2	
1.1: Authority to Promulgate Rules	2	
1.2: Purpose of the Rules	2	
1.3: Effective Date	2	
1.4: Severability	2	
1.5: Boundaries of the District	3	
1.6: Groundwater Management Policies	3	
Article 2: Definitions	3	
Article 3: Rules of the Groundwater District	13	
Section 1: Rule Making Procedures		
Rule 1.1: Applicability	13	
Rule 1.2: Public Hearings on Proposed Rules	13	
Rule 1.3: Notice of Public Hearings on Proposed Rules	13	
Rule 1.4: Adoption of Rules	14	
Section 2: Registering and Permitting of Wells		
Rule 2.1: General Provisions	14	
Rule 2.2: Wells Exempt from Permitting	14	
Rule 2.3: Registration of Wells	15	
Rule 2.4: Permitting of Non-Exempt Wells	16	
Rule 2.5: Permit Application	18	
Rule 2.6: Change in Well Conditions or Operations, Permit Terms, Amendment		
& Revocation	20	
Rule 2.7: Recordkeening and Reporting	22	

Rule 2.8: Monitoring Devices	22
Rule 2.9: Reworking Wells	22
Rule 2.10: Injection Wells	22
Rule 2.11: Replacement Wells	22
Rule 2.12: Export Permit	23
Section 3: Well Spacing	
Rule 3.1: Applicability	24
Rule 3.2: Determining Distances of a Tract Bordered By a Public Roadway	25
Rule 3.3: Spacing from Potential Sources of Pollution	25
Rule 3.4: Distance from Property Lines and Other Wells	25
Rule 3.5: Well Completion Standards	26
Section 4: Prohibition of Waste	
Rule 4.1: Prohibition of Waste	26
Section 5: Determining Beneficial Use Without Waste	
Rule 5.1: Determining Beneficial Use Without Waste	26
Section 6: Groundwater Production Limits	
Rule 6.1: Preamble	27
Rule 6.2: Production Limits for All Non-Exempt Wells	27
Rule 6.3: Production Limits for Wells Supplying Community Water Systems	
and Retail Water Utilities	28
Section 7: Drought Management	
Rule 7.1: Determination of Waste	28
Rule 7.2: Applicability	28
Rule 7.3: Initiation of Determination of Drought Stages	29

Section 8: Investigations and Enforcement	
Rule 8.1: Complaints and Investigations	32
Rule 8.2: Enforcement	33
Appendix 1: Rule Adoption and Revision Record	Appendix 1
Appendix 2: Bylaws of the Crockett County	
Groundwater Conservation District	Appendix 2

PREAMBLE

Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District

Throughout the State of Texas, groundwater conservation districts embody local government at its most basic level: local representatives establishing guidelines for the use and conservation of precious natural resources for the benefit of the citizens and economy of the District.

The Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District was established to conserve and manage groundwater for the benefit of the citizens of Crockett County. To fulfill this duty, the Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District has adopted these rules to ensure a fair, open, and consistent method of formulating and implementing its policies.

ARTICLE 1

INTRODUCTION AND REGULATORY AUTHORITY

- 1.1. Authority to Promulgate Rules. The Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District (the District) is a political subdivision of the State of Texas. The District was formed by Senate Bill 1635, 71st Legislature Regular Session in 1989; under the name Emerald Groundwater Conservation District. House Bill 4009, 80th Legislature Regular Session, renamed the district Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District, issued the order for election, and detailed its powers as that of a water conservation district. The original Rules of the District were adopted on September 14, 1992 and continued in effect as amended until JULY 1, 2013, the date of the adoption of these Rules.
- **1.2. Purpose of the Rules.** The purpose of these Rules of the Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District ("Rules") is to implement the powers and duties of the District under its Enabling Act, Texas Water Code Chapter 36, and other applicable laws and to establish the general policies and procedures of the District.

The District's Rules are promulgated under the District's statutory authority to achieve the following objectives: to provide for conserving, preserving, protecting, and recharging of the groundwater or of a groundwater reservoir or its subdivisions in order to control subsidence, or prevent waste of groundwater. The District's orders, Rules, regulations, requirements, resolutions, policies, guidelines, or similar measures have been implemented to fulfill these objectives.

The Rules will guide, define, and promote the District's goals of water conservation and pollution prevention in an effort to preserve, protect, and enhance the groundwater within the District's jurisdictional boundaries.

- 1.3. Effective Dates. These Rules are effective on the date approved by the Board of the District as set forth in Article 1, except as to any amendments which are effective on the dates indicated following each amended Rule.
 - a. The Board may from time to time, following notice and public hearing, amend or revoke any rule or adopt new rules following the procedures set out in Section 1.
 - b. The Board may adopt an emergency rule without prior notice or hearing, or with an abbreviated notice and hearing, according to Rule 1.3.
- **1.4. Severability.** If any portion of these Rules is for any reason held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, the invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other portions hereof, and these Rules shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable Rule or of portions thereof had never been contained herein.

- 1.5. Boundaries of the District. The boundary of the District is contiguous with the county lines of Crockett County which has an area of 2,839 square miles or approximately 1,817,321 acres of land excluding the area of Crockett County Water Control & Improvement District #1. Located in southwest Texas on the western edge of the Edwards Plateau, Crockett County is the eighth largest county in Texas with the Pecos River forming its western boundary. On the west lie Pecos and Terrell counties. Crane, Upton, Reagan, and Irion counties border Crockett County on the north. On the east lie Schleicher and Sutton counties, with Val Verde County on the south. Ozona, the county seat, is centrally located in the eastern part of Crockett County.
- 1.6. Groundwater Management Policies. The District is in agreement with the groundwater management principles expressed in the plan of Groundwater Management Area 7 and the State Water Plan (the "Plan"). In accordance with SB 3 regarding the determination of the amount of Modeled Available Groundwater (MAG) the District will implement policies in conformity with the statutorily prescribed planning process to conserve and protect the quality of groundwater within the District's boundaries. Therefore, it shall be the policy of the District to limit withdrawal of groundwater from wells, while preserving historic use to the greatest extent consistent with its management plan. Any such limits shall be based on current MAG calculation, and as may be revised from time to time.

ARTICLE 2 DEFINITIONS

Unless the context indicates a contrary meaning, the words hereinafter defined shall have the following meanings in the Rules of the Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District.

Abandoned Well – a well that has not been used for six consecutive months. A well is considered to be in use in the following cases:

- 1. a non-deteriorated well which contains the casing, pump, and pump column in good and operable condition; or
- 2. non-deteriorated well which has been capped.

Administratively Complete Application – a permit application received by the District that includes all documentation and fees required by Texas Water Code Sections 36.113 and 36.1131 and District Rules. In order for an application to be deemed administratively complete, it must include all administrative and technical information required by the District and there must be no unresolved compliance issues.

Agricultural Use or Purpose – means the use of groundwater for:

- 1. Cultivating the soil to produce crops for human food, animal feed, or planting seed or for the production of fibers;
- 2. Practicing floriculture, viticulture, silviculture, and horticulture, including the cultivation of plants in containers or non-soil media, by a nursery grower;
- 3. Raising, feeding, or keeping animals for breeding purposes or for the production of food or fiber, leather, pelts, or other tangible products having a commercial value;
- 4. Planting cover crops, including cover crops cultivated for transplantation, or leaving land idle for the purpose of participating in any governmental program or normal crop or livestock rotation procedure;
- 5. Engaging in wildlife management as defined in Texas Tax Code Section 23.51(7); and,
- 6. Raising or keeping equine animals.

Annular Space – the space between the casing and borehole wall.

Aquifer – a geologic formation that will yield water to a well in sufficient quantities to make the production of water from this formation feasible for beneficial use.

Aquifer Mining or Groundwater Mining – a condition where the average available recharge of an aquifer or portion of an aquifer is less than the annual production from that aquifer or that portion of that aquifer. For purposes of these Rules, the terms "aquifer over drafting," "reduction of artesian pressure," "subsidence," and the "drawdown of the water table or aquifer" shall mean aquifer mining.

Application Fee – a fee assessed for processing applications for well registrations and permits.

Artesian Pressure — where water is confined in an aquifer under pressure so that the water will rise in the well casing or drilled hole above the bottom of the confining bed overlying the aquifer.

Beneficial Use – the use of groundwater for domestic, municipal, stock raising, agricultural, industrial, commercial, mining, manufacturing, irrigation, gardening, recreational, or any other purpose that is useful and beneficial to the user.

Board – the Board of Directors of the Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District.

Capping – closing a well with a covering capable of preventing surface pollutants from entering the well and sustaining weight of at least 400 pounds and constructed in such a way that the covering cannot be easily removed by hand.

Casing – a watertight pipe installed in an excavated or drilled hole, temporarily or permanently, to maintain the hole sidewalls against caving; to advance the borehole; in conjunction with cementing and/or bentonite grouting, to confine groundwater to its respective zones of origin; and to prevent

surface contaminant infiltration.

- 1. Plastic casing--National Sanitation Foundation (NSF-WC) or American Society of Testing Material (ASTM) F-480 minimum SDR 26 approved water well casing.
- 2. Steel Casing--New ASTM A-53 Grade B or better with a minimum weight and thickness of American National Standards Institute (ANSI) schedule 10.
- 3. Monitoring wells may use other materials, such as fluoropolymer (Teflon), glass-fiber reinforced epoxy, or various stainless steel alloys.

Chapter 36 – means Chapter 36 of the Texas Water Code, as amended.

Closed Loop Geothermal Well – a closed system well used to circulate water and other fluids or gases through the earth as a heat source or heat sink.

Commercial Use or Purpose – the use of groundwater to supply water to properties or establishments that are in business to build, supply or sell products, or provide goods, services or repairs and that use water in those processes, or to supply water to the business establishment primarily for employee and customer conveniences (i.e. flushing of toilets, sanitary purposes, or limited landscape watering).

Community Water System – a public water system that has the potential to serve at least 15 residential service connections on a year-round basis or serves at least 25 residents on a year-round basis.

Complaint Under Texas Water Code § 36.119 – a written complaint filed by an aggrieved party citing to Texas Water Code §36.119 alleging drilling or operating a well without a required permit or producing groundwater in violation of a District Rule adopted under Texas Water Code §36.116(a)(2).

Completion or Complete – sealing off access of undesirable water zones, absorption zones or contaminants from the well bore by utilizing proper casing and annular space positive displacement or pressure tube grouting or cementing (sealing) methods.

Conservation—water saving practices, techniques, and technologies that will reduce the consumption of water, reduce the loss or waste of water, improve the efficiency in the use of water, or increase the recycling and reuse of water so that a water supply is made available for future or alternative uses.

Conservation Credit —a supplemental or additional allocation of groundwater production rights allowed to a Permit Holder in consideration of conservation practices which exceed the normal requirements of the District's management plan or state law.

Contested Case Hearing – a hearing that occurs in protest or appeal of a Board action subsequent to the original board action.

Contested Case Hearing Fee – an administrative fee to be posted by a contesting party to offset expenses to be incurred by the District due to the conduct of a contested case hearing.

Dewatering Well – an artificial excavation that is constructed to produce groundwater to lower the water table or potentiometric surface and that is not used to produce or to facilitate the production of minerals under a state regulatory program.

Director – an elected or appointed member of the Board of Directors of the District.

Discharge – the volume of water that passes a given point within a given period of time; the amount of water that leaves an aquifer by natural or artificial means.

District – the Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District (CCUWCD).

District Office – the main office of the District at such location as may be established by the Board.

Domestic Use or Purpose – use of groundwater by a residence (not a business or other commercial structure) to support essential domestic activity, including but not limited to: uses inside the residence; irrigation of lawns, flower beds, shrubs, trees shading the residence, or of a garden or orchard that produces vegetables and fruit for consumption within the residence and not for sale; protection of foundations; and non-commercial recreation associated with the residence.

Drill – drilling, equipping, completing wells, or modifying the size of wells or well pumps/motors whereby a drilling or service rig must be on location to perform the activity.

Drilling Permit – required before drilling a new well or substantially altering an existing well located within the District.

Drip Irrigation- Drip or micro-irrigation is a generic term for a family of irrigation equipment that provides for distribution of water directly to the plant root zone by means of surface or sub-surface applicators or emitters. The three most common types of micro-irrigation used in Texas are microspray or bubblers, sub-surface (buried) drip and orchard surface drip or micro-spray irrigation.

Drought Management Plan – A plan providing for conservation measures to be implemented by a permit holder to comply with any drought restrictions approved by the District as part of its groundwater management plan.

Enabling Legislation – special law enactments that created the District, and as may be amended from time to time.

Enforcement Action – an action taken by the District to enforce District Rules, orders, or permits.

Environmental Monitoring Well – well drilled or developed to a depth of 30 feet or less for the purpose of collecting groundwater samples to ascertain the presence or absence of hazardous materials, hazardous waste, petroleum products, oils, solvents, or other hazardous constituents in groundwater.

Environmental Sampling Well – well or bore thirty (30) feet or less in depth drilled or cored for the purpose of collecting subsurface soil samples to ascertain the presence or absence of hazardous materials, hazardous waste, petroleum products, oils, solvents, or other hazardous constituents in subsurface soils.

Environmental Soil Boring – a man made excavation constructed to measure or monitor the quality

and quantity or movement of substances, elements, chemicals, or fluids beneath the surface of the ground. The term shall not include any well that is used in conjunction with the production of oil, gas, or any other minerals.

Exempt Domestic or Livestock Well – a well used primarily for domestic or livestock use that qualifies as exempt from obtaining an operating permit. A well used for domestic or livestock use is exempt if the well is used solely for domestic use or for livestock use, and is either drilled, completed, or equipped so that it is incapable of producing more than 25,000 gallons of groundwater a day. However, a well is not an exempt domestic or livestock well if groundwater withdrawn from the well is transported outside the boundaries of the District.

A well is deemed capable of producing more than 25,000 gallons of groundwater per day unless the well is drilled, completed, or equipped so that it is incapable of producing more than 17.36 gallons per minute.

Exempt Well – a well for which the owner is not required to obtain an operating permit.

Existing Well – a well located within the District that was drilled and properly completed on or before September 14, 1992.

Fees – charges imposed by the District pursuant to Texas Water Code Chapter 36 and the District's Enabling Legislation.

Geologic Exploration Well – a well drilled for the purpose of exploring for, or otherwise determining the presence or absence of, subsurface minerals, including oil and natural gas.

Geologic formation – A rock formation that is or once was horizontally continuous, that shares some distinctive feature of lithology, and is large enough to be mapped.

Geotechnical Well – a well drilled or bored to determine engineering properties of soils or geologic formations for the purpose of construction.

Groundwater or Underground Water – water percolating beneath the earth's surface.

Groundwater Management Area – means Groundwater Management Area 7.

Groundwater Management Plan or Management Plan, – a management plan developed by the District and certified or approved by the Texas Water Development Board pursuant to Texas Water Code Chapter 36.

Groundwater Reservoir – a specific subsurface water-bearing reservoir having ascertainable boundaries and containing groundwater.

Hand-Dug Well – a well installed by hand digging or by auger drilling.

Hydrologic Unit – The aquifers described as Alluvium; Edwards and associated limestones; Upper Trinity; Middle Trinity; and Lower Trinity.

Industrial Use or Purpose — use of groundwater primarily in the building, production, manufacturing, or alteration of a product or goods, or to wash, cleanse, cool, or heat such goods or products.

Injection Well – a well used to inject water or other material into a subsurface formation or into pipe or tubing placed in the formation for the purpose of storage or disposal of the fluid.

Investigation Report – a report prepared by the District summarizing its investigation of a possible violation of law and making a recommendation to the Board regarding any further action.

Irrigation Use or Purpose – use of groundwater to supply water for application to plants or land in order to promote growth of plants, turf, or trees, other than for domestic use or purpose.

Licensed Water Well Driller – a person who holds a license issued by the Executive Director of the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation pursuant to Texas Occupations Code Chapter 1901.

Licensed Water Well Pump Installer – a person who holds a license issued by the Executive Director of the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation pursuant to Texas Occupations Code Chapter 1902.

Livestock Use or Purpose – use of groundwater to provide water to livestock, of any variety. Dogs, cats, birds, fish, reptiles, small mammals, potbellied pigs, and other animals typically kept as pets are not considered livestock. Livestock-type animals kept as pets or in a pet-like environment are not considered livestock although providing water to such pets may be considered domestic use when associated with a residence.

Modeled Available Groundwater – the calculated amount of groundwater available for permitting within the district as determined by the application of the process of modeling groundwater available given the adopted desired future condition of the aquifer within a groundwater management area.

Meter - A District approved, totalizing flow meter properly sized for the well's production capability, which is not capable of being "reset" by the well owner.

Monitor or Monitoring Well – an excavation constructed to measure or monitor the quality and/or quantity or movement of substances, elements, chemicals, or fluids beneath the surface of the ground. Included within this definition are piezometer wells, observation wells, and recovery wells. The term shall not include any well that is used in conjunction with the production of oil, gas, coal, lignite, or other minerals.

New Well – a well that is drilled or properly completed after September 14, 1992, or an existing well that has been substantially altered after September 14, 1992.

Non-exempt Domestic or Livestock Well – a well used primarily for domestic or livestock use that must obtain an operating permit. A domestic or livestock well is non-exempt if it is drilled, completed, or equipped so that it is capable of producing 25,000 gallons or more of groundwater a day. A domestic or livestock well of any sized production capability is non-exempt if groundwater withdrawn from the well is transported outside the boundaries of the District.

Non-exempt Well – a well for which the owner is required to obtain an operating permit.

Non-potable Water – water that is not fit for human consumption due to dissolved solids, mineral content, hardness, turbidity, microbial or bacteriological level, or other chemical, physical, or

biological parameter exceeding Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) or Secondary Constituent Levels, as defined in 30 Texas Administrative Code Chapter 290.

Notice of Violation (NOV) — written correspondence from the District notifying a person that they are in violation of law, including violation of a District Rule, Order, or permit.

One-Time Authorization – a well used for a limited purpose, production volume, and duration specified in that authorization. Such authorization is limited solely to the terms specified in the authorization and does not create a right to produce water from the well in the future.

Open or Uncovered Well – an artificial excavation dug or drilled for the purpose of exploring for or producing water from the groundwater reservoir and that is not capped or covered as required by District Rules.

Operate or Operations — to produce or cause to produce water from a well or to use a well for injection or closed loop heat exchange purposes.

Operating Permit – required to operate a water well within the District.

Owner – a person who has the right to produce groundwater from the land, either by ownership, contract, lease, easement, or any other estate in the land. The term "Owner", as used herein, includes any agent or attorney representing the Owner in any matter concerning the District.

Party in Contested Case Hearing – any party affected by the contesting of a Board action.

Permit Amendment – a District approved change in an operating permit.

Permitted Well – a well for which an operating permit has been issued by the Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District.

Permit Holder - a person who holds either a drilling permit or an operating permit issued by the District.

Person – a corporation, individual, organization, cooperative, government or governmental subdivision or agency, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, association, or any other legal entity.

Piezometer Well – a well of a temporary nature constructed to monitor well standards for the purpose of measuring water levels or used for the installation of a piezometer (a device constructed and sealed to measure hydraulic head at a point in the subsurface) resulting in the determination of locations and depths of permanent monitor wells.

Plugging – an absolute sealing of the well bore.

Pollution — the alteration of the physical, thermal, chemical, or biological quality of, or the contamination of, any water that renders the water harmful, detrimental, or injurious to humans, animals, vegetation, or property, or to public health, safety, or welfare, or impairs the usefulness or the public enjoyment of the water for any reasonable purpose.

Pollution Source – a person, business, corporation, industry, operation, activity, or event, whether intentional or unintentional that causes, allows, or enables contaminants to be discharged to the environment, thereby causing pollution.

Potable Water – water that is suitable for human consumption, or can be made suitable for human consumption by primary filtration or chemical or ultraviolet disinfection. Potable water must comply with Maximum Contaminant Levels (MCL) or Secondary Constituent Levels, as defined in Title 30 Texas Administrative Code Chapter 290.

Presiding Officer – Either the Director or the Hearings Examiner designated to conduct a contested case hearing.

Priority Groundwater Management Area (PGMA) – an area designated and delineated by the State under Texas Water Code Chapter 35 as an area experiencing or expected to experience critical groundwater problems.

Production Capability – the volume of water a well can produce as determined by either the rated pumping capability of the installed pump or as determined by the District.

Public Water System – a system created and operated to provide water for human consumption to the public.

Pump Test - A well test conducted under the conditions of these Rules.

Pumping or Groundwater Production – all water withdrawn from the ground, measured at the wellhead.

Recharge— the amount of water that infiltrates to the water table of an aquifer.

Recovery Well – a well constructed for the purpose of recovering undesirable groundwater for treatment or removal of contamination.

Remediation Well – a well used to pump or vent contaminated air, water, or fluids from the ground.

Respondent – an individual who receives a Notice of Violation or other correspondence from the District regarding the individual's non-compliance with District Rules or other law within the District's enforcement authority.

Retail Water Utility or Retail Public Water Utility – as defined by Texas Water Code Section 13.002 and 30 Texas Administrative Code Section 291.3, any person, corporation, public utility, water supply corporation, municipality, political subdivision or agency operating, maintaining, or controlling within the District facilities for providing potable water service for compensation.

Rules – standards and regulations promulgated by the District.

Seal – an official seal, tag, or label placed on a well or its equipment, or the act of placing the tag or label, to indicate that further pumping of groundwater, or operation of the well, or continuing with other District regulated activities is not permitted by the District, shall be in violation of District Rules, and may subject the well owner to civil suit and/or penalties.

Single-Family Residence — An equivalent single-family connection or ESFC. An ESFC is defined as equaling a typical detached single-family house using an average of 360 gallons of water per day.

Special Provisions – conditions or requirements added to a drilling or operating permit, which may be more or less restrictive than the Rules as a result of circumstances unique to a particular situation.

Spring – a point of natural discharge from an aquifer.

State of Texas Well Report - see "Well Log," defined below.

Subdivision – a tract or parcel of land for which a plat is required in accordance with Chapter 232 of the Texas Local Government Code.

Substantial Alteration of a Well – to change the physical or mechanical characteristics of a well, its equipment, production capabilities, or its purpose or location of use of the water produced in a way that may impact the level of fees the well is subject to or may impact whether an operating permit or amendment to an operating permit is required. This does not include repair of well equipment, well houses or enclosures, or replacement with comparable equipment.

Surface Impoundment – Any excavation or manmade structure that impounds or stores groundwater and is open to the air allowing evaporation. A non-permeable excavation or artificial structure that impounds less than 20,000 gallons of groundwater is not considered a surface impoundment.

Temporary Permit – see One-Time Authorization.

Test Well – a well drilled to explore for groundwater.

Variance – an exception to requirements or provisions of the Rules granted by the District as authorized under District Rules.

Waste -

- 1. The withdrawal of groundwater from a groundwater reservoir at a rate and in an amount that causes or threatens to cause intrusion into the reservoir of water unsuitable for agricultural, gardening, domestic, or stock raising purposes.
- 2. The flowing or producing of wells from a groundwater reservoir if the water produced is not used for a beneficial purpose.
- 3. The escape of groundwater from one groundwater reservoir to any other reservoir or geologic strata that does not contain groundwater.
- 4. The pollution or harmful alteration of groundwater in a groundwater reservoir by saltwater or by other deleterious matter admitted from another stratum or from the surface of the ground.
- 5. Willfully or negligently causing, suffering, or allowing groundwater to escape into any river, creek, natural watercourse, depression, lake, reservoir, drain, sewer, street, highway, road, or road ditch, or onto any land other than that of the owner of the well unless such discharge is authorized by permit, Rule, or order issued by the commission under Chapter 26 "Water Quality Control".
- 6. Groundwater pumped for irrigation that escapes as irrigation tail water onto land other than that of the owner of the well unless permission has been granted by the occupant of the land receiving the discharge.

7. Unless the water from an artesian well is used for a purpose and in a manner in which it may be lawfully used on the owner's land, it is waste and unlawful to willfully cause or knowingly permit the water to run off the owner's land or to percolate through the stratum above which the water is found.

Water Table – the upper boundary of the saturated zone in an unconfined aquifer.

Water Well – a man made excavation constructed to explore for or produce groundwater. The term does not include:

- 1. a test or blast hole in a quarry or mine or a well or excavation constructed to explore for or produce oil, gas, or other minerals unless the hole is also used to produce groundwater; or
- 2. an injection water source well regulated under Section 91.101, Natural Resources Code.

Well – an excavation drilled or dug into the ground that may intercept or penetrate a water-bearing stratum or formation.

Well Driller - a person holding a license to drill water wells under the provisions of Title 16, Chapter 76 of the Texas Administrative Code and who has registered a copy of such license with the District prior to conducting drilling operations in the District.

Well Log or State of Texas Well Report – the report that every well driller who drills, deepens, or alters a well is required to complete under the rules of the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation, as defined in 16 Texas Administrative Code Sections 76.10 and 76.700, including any special purpose geophysical log that may be available for any given well, such as a gamma ray log, a temperature log, an electric log, or a caliper log.

Well Pumps and Equipment – devices and materials used to obtain water from a well, including the seals and safeguards necessary to protect the water from contamination.

Well Registration — the creation of a record of a well, under Rule 3, for purposes of registering the well as to its geographic location and for notification to the well owner in cases of spills or accidents, data collection, record keeping, or future planning purposes. First step in the process required by Rule 3 for drilling or operating a well located within the District.

 $Withdraw \ or \ Withdrawal$ — the act of extracting groundwater by pumping or any other method, other than the discharge of natural springs.

ARTICLE 3 RULES OF THE GROUNDWATER DISTRICT

SECTION 1 RULE MAKING PROCEDURES

Rule 1.1. Applicability. This section applies to rule making by the District but does not apply to internal personnel rules or practices, bylaws, statements regarding internal management or organization, or other statements not of general applicability.

Rule 1.2. Public Hearings on Proposed Rules

- a. The Board shall hold at least one public hearing on proposed rules prior to adoption of the proposed rules that govern it unless the Board finds that an emergency exists which necessitates action prior to the conduct of a public hearing. An emergency rule may be adopted at any regular or special meeting of the Board conducted pursuant to proper notice.
- b. The Board may direct any person to serve as the presiding officer and to conduct the public hearings on the proposed Rules.
- c. Public hearings will be conducted in the manner the Board deems most suitable to conveniently, inexpensively, and expeditiously provide a reasonable opportunity for interested persons to submit relevant data, views, or arguments, in writing or orally, on proposed Rules.

Rule 1.3. Notice of Public Hearings on Proposed Rules

- a. The Board will set a time and place for any public hearing on proposed Rules of the District.
- b. The General Manager shall give prior notice of the public hearing at least twenty (20) days before the public hearing by posting the notice in the location where notices of the District's Board meetings are posted and by publishing the notice in one or more newspapers of general circulation within the District, unless the Board determines an emergency to public health or safety exists. Notice for a hearing on proposed rules of the District for emergency situations shall be given at least three (3) days prior to the public meeting.
- c. The notice shall advise the public of the following:
 - 1. the proposed agenda;
 - 2. the date, place, and time the public hearing is to be convened;
 - 3. the date and time by which written comments must be filed with the District:
- d. Proposed rules shall be available for use and inspection at the District Office.

Rule 1.4. Adoption of Rules

- a. The Board may adopt proposed Rules as final at any time after the completion of the public hearing(s) and after the close of the written comment period.
- b. The Board will compile new sections of the rules and make them available for public use and inspection at the District's principal office.

SECTION 2 REGISTERING AND PERMITTING WELLS

Rule 2.1. General Provisions.

Well registration is required for all existing and proposed wells within the District, whether exempt or non-exempt, and shall be filed with the District on forms supplied by the District.

- a. Wells classified as exempt must be registered with the District.
- b. Wells classified as non-exempt must be registered and permitted by the District.
- c. All registrations and permits issued by the District shall be subject to District Rules, as may be amended from time to time, and terms and conditions regarding the drilling, equipping, completion, or modification of wells or pumps.
- d. The District may conduct well and well site inspections during registration, permitting, drilling, completion, and after completion to confirm well location, status, completion or other related investigations deemed necessary by the District.

Rule 2.2. Wells Exempt from Permitting

- a. The following wells must be registered, but are exempt from permitting and are considered exempt wells. A permit is not required to drill or produce groundwater from the following wells, so long as the well complies with District Spacing Rules:
 - 1. A well used solely for domestic use or for providing water for livestock or poultry on a tract of land larger than 75 acres that is either drilled, completed, or equipped so that it is incapable of producing more than 25,000 gallons of groundwater a day;
 - 2. A well used solely to supply water for a rig that is actively engaged in drilling or exploration operations for oil or gas permitted by the Railroad Commission of Texas, provided that the person holding the Railroad Commission permit is responsible for drilling and operating the water

- well, and that the well is located on the same lease or field associated with the drilling rig.
- 3. A water well authorized under a permit issued by the Railroad Commission of Texas under Chapter 134, Natural Resources Code, or for production from such a well to the extent that the withdrawals are required for mining activities regardless of any subsequent use of the water.
- 4. Test wells for geophysical, environmental investigation or purposes exempted by the laws of the State of Texas.
- b. If an exempt well is modified so that the well is no longer an exempt well or used for any non-exempt purpose, a permit must be obtained prior to commencing any non-exempt use.
- c. All new exempt wells must be registered with the District before drilling.
- d. Exempt water wells shall be equipped and maintained so as to conform to the District rules requiring installation of casing, pipe, and fittings to prevent the communication of groundwater between different aquifers, reservoir or to any zone not containing groundwater, and to prevent the contamination or degradation in quality of the water in any groundwater reservoir.
- e. Production limitations under Section 6 and to the payment of water use fees under Section 6 do not apply to a well exempt from permitting under Section 36.117(b)(2) or (b)(3), Water Code, which relate to water wells used in certain oil and gas drilling or exploration operations and surface coal mining. However, such a well shall be subject to the other requirements of these rules, including without limitation the well registration, drilling records, metering, water production reporting, and new well registration fee and deposit provisions of these rules.

Rule 2.3. Registration of Wells

- a. All exempt wells which were drilled and put into regular use prior to September 14, 1992 shall be registered with the District using a District form. A pre-existing exempt well is not required to pay a registration fee.
- b. All existing and new Exempt and Non-Exempt wells must be registered with the District using a District form and pay a registration fee prior to commencing drilling.
- c. No person may commence to re-drill, re-equip, complete, or modify the size of an exempt well or its pumping equipment without first submitting a Well Registration form and paying a fee set by the Board.
- d. A well registration will be issued if the District determines from the information submitted in the application that the well meets the requirements of an exempt well.

- e. It is the responsibility of the Owner to supply all necessary information required to register a well. It is the responsibility of the Owner to ensure access to the well for inspections and verification of the application. The Owner is responsible for providing the District and the Water Well Driller with all information necessary to determine a legal location for a new well, including but not limited to, the information necessary to determine minimum separation distances from wastewater facilities, other wells, other potential sources of pollution, and property lines.
- f. All wells must be registered or permitted upon information provided on forms promulgated by the District, in the name of the Owner of the real property on which the well is or will be located.
- g. The District will act on each registration request within twenty (20) business days after receiving the completed application and the registration fee set by the District.
- h. No water well driller or pump installer may begin to drill, complete, or alter an exempt well without having first completed and filed a Crockett County Groundwater District Water Well Driller or Pump Installer license certification form.
- i. Within sixty (60) days of the completion date of the well the driller must provide to the Owner and the District a copy of all required completion reports and any other information required by these Rules.
- j. The drilling of a well must commence within 120 days of issuance of the registration or permit. The General Manager may grant an extension for up to an additional 180 days.
- k. If a well registration is denied by the General Manager, the Applicant shall be entitled to a hearing before the Board. A written request for such a hearing must be filed with the District. The District shall give notice of such hearing.
- 1. A registered well may be converted to a permitted well after drilling and completion if the required permit application is completed, permit application fees are paid, and a permit is obtained.

Rule 2.4. Permitting of Non-Exempt Wells

- a. A permit from the District is required prior to drilling, equipping, completing, operating, producing or exporting groundwater from all, existing and new, non-exempt wells within the District.
- b. It is the responsibility of the Owner to apply for the necessary permit. It is the responsibility of the Owner to ensure access to the Well, after completion, for inspections and verification that the well has been drilled and completed in conformity with the permit.

- c. Notwithstanding the requirement of a permit, the Owner of a well permitted or producing groundwater before the effective date of this rule may continue to produce such water until the District takes final action on a permit application processed under these rules
- d. Applications for permits must be made on forms promulgated by the District.
- e. A Permit application fee shall be assessed for processing a permit application as follows:
 - 1. A non-exempt well that existed prior to the date of creation of the District, is not required to pay the permit application fee.
 - 2. A new, non-exempt well will be required to pay the permit application fee as may be established from time to time by the Board.
- f. No water well driller or pump installer may begin to drill, complete, or alter a non-exempt well without having first completed and filed a District Water Well Driller or Pump Installer license certification form.
- g. Upon completion of the well the driller must provide to the owner and the District a copy of the required completion report and any other applicable information. The water well driller shall have sixty (60) days from the well completion date or cessation of drilling to submit the required completion report to the owner and the District.
- h. Drilling of a permitted well must commence within 120 days of issuance of the permit. The General Manager may grant an extension for up to an additional 180 days.
- i. All applications will be referred to the Board for notice and hearing.
- j. If a permit is revoked by the District, or cancelled by the owner, the permit application fee will not be refunded.
- k. As of JULY 1, 2013 any well providing groundwater to ponds, lakes, tanks, reservoirs, or other surface impoundments shall obtain a permit to continue such use unless the well is exempt as a livestock well under Rule 2.2.a.(1) or well used by in oil or gas drilling under Rule 2.2.a.(2) or for mining pursuant to Rule 2.2.a.(3).
- l. After JULY 1, 2013, except as provided by this rule, no permit shall be issued for any well that proposes to provide groundwater to ponds, lakes, tanks, reservoirs, or other surface impoundments, unless the Board finds such use to be beneficial.
- m. The District may prohibit or restrict production as set out in the District Drought Management Plan.
- n. The following conditions or terms shall be included in a well permit:
 - 1. The permitted annual production amount stated in gallons or acre-feet;

- 2. The maximum instantaneous production rate stated in gallons per minute;
- 3. The expiration date of the permit;
- 4. The permitted purpose of use, including if the groundwater is to be pumped into a pond, lake, tank, reservoir, or other surface impoundment (if such use is authorized by the District);
- 5. That the Permit Holder report to the District compliance with any required Drought Management Plan.
- o. Any material modification or change in operation of a permitted well from those conditions specified in the permit is prohibited without approval of an application for a permit amendment. If a Permit Holder requests a substantial modification or change in permit conditions, the District will consider such a request on the same basis as the District considers an application for a permit.

Rule 2.5. Permit Application

- a. An application for a permit shall include the following:
 - 1. The signature of the owner.
 - 2. The name, mailing address and address of the Applicant's residence or principal office.
 - 3. The physical address and GPS location of the well, using the WGS-84 coordinate system.
 - 4. A map or plat that includes the location of the well site, the location of the meter or monitoring device, and shows the acreage upon which the Applicant relies for the requested production limit.
 - 5. Identification of the actual or anticipated location, pump size, and production capacity of the well from which the water is to be produced.
 - 6. A statement of the nature and purpose of the proposed beneficial use, including if groundwater will be pumped into a pond, lake, tank, reservoir, or other surface impoundment, and the anticipated amount of water to be used.
 - 7. A statement of the anticipated time period within which the proposed construction or alteration is to begin.
 - 8. A statement of the anticipated duration of time required for the proposed use of the water.
 - 9. Information showing what water conservation measures the Permit Holder has adopted, what water conservation goals the Permit Holder has established, and what measures and time frames are necessary to achieve the Permit Holder's established water conservation goals.

- 10. A proposed Drought Management Plan. If the well will be part of a public water system for which the TCEQ requires a Drought Management Plan, the Applicant shall satisfy this requirement by submitting that TCEQ approved plan. If the well is not subject to those requirements, the Applicant may satisfy this requirement with a written statement affirming that Applicant will comply with the District's Drought Management Plan.
- 11. The proposed interval of the water-bearing formation.
- 12. If the water is to be sold to others, if the well is to be a Public Water Supply well, or if the well is a Retail Public Utility well, the Applicant must also provide:
 - i. A description or map of the Permit Holder's service area in sufficient detail to allow the District to locate the area.
 - ii. A description of the Permit Holder's metering and leak detection repair program for its water storage, delivery and distribution system.
 - iii. A Drought Management Plan.
 - iv. Information on each customer's water demands, including population and customer data, water use data, water supply system data, wastewater data, and conservation measures and goals, and the means for implementation and enforcement.
- 13. For permit applications requesting more than 72,000 gallons per day (50 GPM), the Applicant must also provide the following:
 - i. Identification of all registered and permitted wells within 1/4 mile of the proposed well that are producing from the same formation, along with the names and mailing addresses of the owners of those wells.
 - ii. Evidence satisfactory to the Board to establish the availability of water in the District during the period for which the water supply is requested.
 - iii. Evidence establishing that the project is consistent with the approved Regional Water Plan and approved District Management Plan.
- b. The application must be accompanied by a map or plat drawn on a scale that adequately details the proposed project, showing:
 - 1. The GPS location of the well, using the WGS-84 co-ordinate system.
 - 2. For permit applications requesting more than 72,000 gallons per day (50 GPM), the location of all registered and permitted wells within 1/4 mile of the proposed well.

- c. The permit application must be accompanied by a permit application fee set by the Board.
- d. The District shall determine whether the application, maps and other materials comply with the requirements of these Rules. The District may require amendment of the application, maps or other materials in order to achieve necessary compliance.

Rule 2.6. Change in Well Conditions or Operations; Permit Terms and Renewal; Permit Amendment; and Registration and Permit Revocation

- a. **Change in Well Conditions or Operations.** No person shall take any of the following actions related to a well located in the District without submitting the appropriate application as described in these Rules and receiving authorization from the District to:
 - 1. change the purpose of use of a well;
 - 2. change the place of use of the water produced from the well;
 - 3. alter the size or depth of a well, the well pump, or its pumping volume;
 - 4. plug a well; or
 - 5. abandon a well.

Such changes may be processed administratively, may require an amendment to an existing permit, may make an exempt well be required to obtain a permit, and may make a well subject to the production limits. No pump installer or water well driller may make changes to a well if the owner has not applied for and obtained the appropriate authorization under this Rule.

b. Change in Use.

- 1. It is the responsibility of the owner of such a well to apply for a permit no later than 90 days prior to making any change in the use of the permitted well.
- 2. Any time the production of groundwater from a well or the capability to produce groundwater from a well increases to more than 25,000 GPD (17.36 GPM), a permit or permit amendment shall be required.
- 3. A change in use or condition of an exempt well, from the uses and conditions described in Rule 2.2, shall require a permit.
- 4. If a tract of land of seventy-five acres or more containing an exempt well is subdivided after September 1, 2002, making the well tract less than seventy-five acres.
- c. **Change in Ownership**. Any change in ownership of a well must be reported to the District, by the purchaser, on a District form within 60 days of the closing date of such a sale. If there are unpaid fees at the time of the transfer, the new owner shall become responsible for payment of such fees. For wells with a permit, failure to timely notify the District may result in the permit being revoked or suspended.

- d. **Operating Permit Term.** Permits issued by the District are valid for a period of five (5) years, unless otherwise specified by the District as a special permit condition. Such a special permit condition may include the need for additional data regarding the impact of the well on the aquifer or surrounding wells. The District reserves the authority to amend, revise, and adopt new Rules applicable to wells subject to a permit.
- e. **Renewal of Permits**. An application for renewal of a permit shall be submitted no later than 90 days prior to the expiration date of the permit and shall be accompanied by the appropriate non-refundable application fee. The District shall normally renew the permit at the end of each permit term unless:
 - 1. the Permit Holder is not in compliance with permit conditions, the District Management Plan or District Rules;
 - 2. the Permit Holder has delinquent District fees; or
 - 3. conditions of the Aquifer, as reflected in the District's GAMs or Drought Management Plan, indicate that a reduction in production is required to conform to the District's current plans.

In the event of noncompliance or delinquent fees, the District shall notify the Permit Holder of the conditions preventing the automatic renewal of the Permit and allow the Permit Holder an opportunity to correct any noncompliance or pay delinquent fees. Failure of the Permit Holder to correct any noncompliance or pay delinquent fees within 30 days may result in revocation of the permit.

f. **Permit Amendment.** An amendment to a permit is required for any Substantial Alteration of a well or any substantial change in the operation, use, or condition of a well including but not limited to: changing the production capacity, the type of use of the well, the place of use of the water produced from the well, the size or depth of a well, or replacement of the pump with a pump of materially greater pumping capacity.

An application for an Amendment, on a form obtained from the District, and the appropriate non-refundable application fee, must be submitted at least 90 days prior to the date of any modification to a well. The applicant will be notified when the application has been reviewed and deemed Administratively Complete. No amendment application shall be deemed Administratively Complete if the applicant has unpaid fees or has unresolved compliance issues with the District. Within 60 days after the date a Permit Amendment application is determined to be Administratively Complete, the application shall be referred to the Board for consideration and action.

g. Registration and Permit Revocation.

- 1. A well permit may be subject to revocation or involuntary revision as a consequence of abandonment or deviation from the purposes or terms of the well Permit.
- 2. If an exempt well registration or well Permit is revoked or involuntarily revised, the Owner is entitled to a hearing before the Board of Directors. A

- written request for such a hearing must be filed with the District, and the District will provide notice of and conduct such a hearing.
- 3. If an application for a Permit or registration expires or is revoked for nonuse, the entire application or registration fee is forfeited to the District.

Rule 2.7. Recordkeeping and Reporting

- a. All Owners of permitted non-exempt wells shall keep monthly records of the amount of groundwater produced and purpose of the production; such records shall be available for inspection by district representatives at any time.
- b. Immediate written notice must be given to the District in the event production exceeds the quantity authorized by the permit, or if the well becomes contaminated, causes pollution, or contaminates surrounding aquifers or other surface impoundments.
- c. All Permit Holders must file with the District an annual report containing monthly water production and usage amounts. A report, covering production from the preceding year, must be filed on the appropriate form no later than January 21st of each year.
- Rule 2.8. Monitoring Devices. All non-exempt wells must be equipped with production monitoring devices approved by the District and available for inspection by the District at any time during normal business hours. An hour meter may be considered as a production monitoring device on the well, if the well output in gallons per minute (GPM) can be accurately determined.
- **Rule 2.9.** Reworking Wells. No person shall rework, re-drill, re-equip, or otherwise substantially modify a well in such a way as to convert the well from an exempt well to a non-exempt well without first obtaining a permit from the District.
- Rule 2.10. Injection Wells. All injection well permit applications, including those permitted by the TCEQ and the Railroad Commission of Texas, must be submitted for review by the Board.

Rule 2.11. Replacement Wells

- a. A replacement well for an exempt well must be registered with the District. The registration will be approved so long as the replacement well is located on the same tract of land as the well it is replacing, and the replaced well is permanently removed from service by plugging in accordance with District Rules.
- b. A replacement well for a non-exempt well must be permitted by the District. The permit for the well it is replacing may be transferred to the replacement well, so long as the following conditions are met:
 - 1. The replacement well is located on the same tract of land as the well it is replacing and otherwise meets the District rules regarding spacing.

- 2. The replacement well is sized and operated according to the previous permit.
- 3. The replacement well adheres to the purpose of use allowed under the previous permit.
- 4. The replaced well is permanently removed from service by plugging in accordance with District Rules.
- 5. The request to transfer the permit and the permit application fee is submitted on a District form prior to the drilling of the replacement well.
- c. The replacement well will be subject to District Rules regarding well construction and inspections.

Rule 2.12 Export Permit. A permit is required to transfer groundwater beyond the boundaries of the district. An export permit is a permit allowing an applicant to export a certain volume of water. In order to apply for an export permit, applicant must submit information regarding, and the Board must consider:

- a. The availability of water in the District and in the proposed receiving area during the period for which the water supply is requested;
- b. The projected effect of the proposed transfer on aquifer conditions, depletion, subsidence, or effects on existing Permit Holders or other groundwater users within the District; and
- c. The approved regional water plan and approved district management plan.
 - 1. The Board reserves the right to alter an export permit of unreasonable amounts based on their review and determination of the above issues and provide a permit for a decreased amount.
 - 2. An application for a permit to export water outside the District or an amendment to an existing export permit shall specify the following:
 - i. The legal description of the property that the groundwater withdrawal source will be located on;
 - ii. The actual or anticipated location, pump size, and capacity of the well from which the groundwater will be produced;
 - iii. The nature and purpose of the proposed well;
 - iv. The proposed time until pumping and exportation would begin;
 - v. The water conservation measures that the applicant has adopted in regards to this exportation endeavor;

- vi. The proposed service area of water sales;
- vii. The metering and leak detection and repair program; and
- viii. Wells producing from the same formation on land adjacent to the property where the well is located or where the proposed well is to be located.
- 3. The application must include the following:
 - i. Map or plat, drawn to scale, that accurately describes the proposed project showing the locations of existing or proposed wells, existing or proposed monitoring devices, and existing or proposed water use or storage facilities.
- 4. Export permits issued by the district will be subject to a fee negotiated between the district and the transporter.
- 5. A transportation facility permit is not required for transportation of water begun prior to September 1, 1997. To claim this exemption the transporter must register the project with the District and provide evidence of the project completion date. District Water Purveyors that have customers both inside and outside the district are not required to obtain a transportation permit if no more than five percent (5%) of their monthly water volume is delivered outside the boundaries of the district.
- 6. The owner of a transportation facility or system shall be responsible for the prevention of pollution and waste.
- 7. All registered export facilities or systems must submit monthly reports, by the 5th day of each month, stating the volume of water transported during the preceding month.

SECTION 3 WELL SPACING

The purpose of these well spacing requirements is to promote groundwater conservation, provide for continued availability of groundwater resources, reduce localized depletion of groundwater, prevent interference between wells, and prevent the degradation of groundwater quality.

Rule 3.1. Applicability. The requirements of this Section apply to all wells drilled within the District unless specifically noted. As authorized by Texas Water Code Section 36.116, some of the required distances are more stringent than those required by Title 16, Texas Administrative Code Section 76.1000, as amended.

Rule 3.2. Determining Distances of a Tract Bordered By a Public Roadway. In determining the minimum distances set out in this Section, if the tract in question is bounded by a public road, it is permissible to use the centerline of a public roadway to calculate the distance required for the setback of a well from that boundary line.

Rule 3.3. Spacing from Potential Sources of Pollution

- a. All wells must comply with the location standards of Title 16, Texas Administrative Code §76.1000 and with the minimum required separation distance for on-site sewage facilities of Title 30, Texas Administrative Code §285.91(10), which dictate horizontal distance from potential sources of pollution. Section 76.1000 excludes monitoring wells, environmental soil borings, dewatering wells, piezometer wells, and recovery wells from these requirements. Such wells may be located where necessity dictates.
- b. Public water system wells must comply with the 150-foot sanitary control easement standards as required by Title 30, Texas Administrative Code Chapter 290.

Rule 3.4. Distance from Property Lines and Other Wells

- a. All new wells shall be located a minimum horizontal distance from existing wells and property lines as required by Title 16, Texas Administrative Code Section 76.1000, unless covered by the more stringent spacing requirements of this Section.
- b. All new water wells shall be located a minimum horizontal distance from existing water wells as specified in the following Table.

Actual Pumping Capacity of Well as Equipped (gallons per minute)	Minimum Distance (in feet) between Existing Water Wells and the New Water Well	i
Less than 17 gpm	150	100 (50)*
17 gpm through 200 gpm	300	150
200-400 gpm	600	300
>400	900	450

^{*} Pressure cementing of annular space required to reduce distance from property line from 100 feet to 50 feet.

c. If an existing tract of land is subdivided in such a way as to result in the formation of new property lines that are located closer to a well than the spacing requirements of this Section 3 provide, the existing or proposed water well and current property line shall be grounds for cancellation of such well's operating permit or revocation of that well's exempt status.

Rule 3.5. Completion Standards for All Wells

- a. All wells must be completed in accordance with the well completion standards set forth under the Texas Water Well Drillers and Pump Installers Administrative Rules, Title 16, Part 4, Chapter 76, Texas Administrative Code, and under these Rules, and must be completed in compliance with applicable rules and regulations of any other governmental entity.
- b. Water well drillers shall indicate the method of completion performed on the well report.
- c. In order to prevent the commingling of water between aquifers, resulting in a loss of reservoir pressure, and to protect against degradation of water quality, each well penetrating more than one separate water bearing zone of any aquifer shall be completed in a manner so as to prevent the commingling of groundwater between aquifers or between subdivisions of an aquifer if required by the Texas Water Well Drillers and Pump Installers Administrative Rules, Title 16, Part 4, Chapter 76, Texas Administrative Code. The drillers shall indicate the method of completion used to prevent the commingling of water on the well report. The well driller may use any lawful method of completion calculated to prevent the commingling of groundwater.
- d. In order to protect water quality, the integrity of the well, or loss of groundwater from the well, the District may impose any additional well completion requirements deemed necessary or appropriate by the District.

SECTION 4 PROHIBITION OF WASTE

Rule 4.1. Groundwater shall not be produced within the District in such a manner as to constitute waste, as defined in Article 2.

SECTION 5 DETERMINING BENEFICIAL USE WITHOUT WASTE

Rule 5.1: Determining Beneficial Use Without Waste

- a. When setting the production limit for a non-exempt well for agricultural irrigation use, the District may base its calculations on industry standards from a reliable source such as a county extension agent. The information must be based on number of acres, crop type, and time of year.
- b. When setting a production limit for a non-exempt well for agricultural livestock use, the District may base its calculation on industry standards from a reliable source such as a county extension agent. The information must be based on number of animals, type of animals, and time of year.
- c. When setting a production limit for a non-exempt well for commercial use, the

- District may consider the minimum water capacity requirements of Title 30, Texas Administrative Code Section 290.45(c) and (d).
- d. When setting a production limit for a non-exempt well for industrial use, the District may consider the Applicant's Standard Industrial Code classification water use standards for the maximum amount of water necessary to efficiently meet the demands for the particular use.
- e. When setting a production limit for a community water system well or retail public water utility well, the District shall consider, among other things, the size of the service area and the number of connections being served.
- f. When setting a production limit for any non-exempt well, the District may consider historical data if supported by reliable documentation.

SECTION 6

GROUNDWATER PRODUCTION LIMITS

Rule 6.1. Preamble. This rule limits the production of groundwater as authorized by the District's enabling legislation and Texas Water Code Sections 36.101 and 36.116. This method of limiting groundwater production is appropriate based on the hydro-geological conditions of the aquifers in the District and is consistent with the approved District Management Plan developed and adopted under Texas Water Code Section 36.1071.

Rule 6.2. Production Limits for All Non-Exempt Wells

- a. Non-Exempt wells that were permitted prior to JULY 1, 2013 may produce the amount authorized in the permit unless the owner applies for and is granted a permit amendment to change the production limit to an amount calculated under the terms of this Rule.
- b. A permit issued on or after JULY 1, 2013 for a Non-Exempt well shall include a production limit that will be established during the permitting process and will be set based on this Rule 6.2.
- c. Other than as described in Rule 6.2. a. and 6.2 b., production limits shall be established on the basis of Beneficial Use without Waste. Establishing a Production Limit on the basis of Beneficial Use without Waste shall be based on:
 - 1. A demonstration of Beneficial Use without Waste, not to exceed the maximum sustained pumping capacity of the well determined from a 24 hour pump test;
 - 2. A demonstration of compliance with Rules 6.3, if applicable; and

3. A demonstration that the Purpose of Use and Production Limit are consistent with the approved District Management Plan.

Rule 6.3. Production Limits for Wells Supplying Community Water Systems and Retail Water Utilities. A permit for a community water system or retail public water utility that utilizes groundwater as a source of supply, the beneficial use without waste requirement shall be based on the service area instead of ownership of acreage. Once a permit is issued containing a production limit based on this section any expansion of the service area requires a permit amendment.

SECTION 7 DROUGHT MANAGEMENT

Rule 7.1. Determination of Waste. Water uses regulated or prohibited under this Rule are considered to be non-essential and continuation of such uses during times of water restrictions, as defined herein, are deemed to constitute a waste of water. Person(s) violating these rules are subject to penalties including the Districts power, as authorized by Texas Water Code 36.102, to assess civil penalties not to exceed \$10,000.00 per day per violation, and that each day of a continuing violation constitutes a separate violation.

Rule 7.2. Applicability

- a. The provisions of this Section shall apply to all persons or organizations, public or private, having or operating wells, or person(s) utilizing groundwater within the District, regardless of purpose of use, size, capacity, and date of drilling or ownership of the wells.
- b. The District recognizes that Permit Holders within the district may have developed and utilize their own Drought Management Plans. If a Permit Holder has multiple water sources, the groundwater component must be in compliance with the current stage. The Permit Holder must either:
 - 1. Comply with this Rule; or
 - 2. Provide the District written documentation, as a requirement of the permit application or permit renewal application, which demonstrates to the District's satisfaction that the Permit Holder's groundwater conservation measures are sufficient to meet the intent of, and be at least as restrictive as these rules.

The District shall make a determination of sufficiency based on information presented by the Permit Holder and inform the Permit Holder of such determinations in writing.

c. The restrictions set forth shall not apply to the temporary uses of water to alleviate conditions threatening health, safety, or welfare of the public, the suppression of

fires or the watering of landscape using solely grey water, surface water, harvested rain water or reclaimed water.

Rule 7.3. Initiation and Determination of Drought Stages. Each of the drought stages will be initiated by an action of the Board after analysis of the District's network of monitor wells, stream flow in the streams located within the District, cumulative rainfall, and/or other factors deemed appropriate by the Board and shall remain in effect for a minimum of thirty (30) days. Mandatory percentage reductions in groundwater use under this Rule 7.3 shall not apply to health and safety uses, such as sanitation and firefighting.

a. Stage 1 – Year-Round Conservation. All well owners and/or users of groundwater will minimize the use of groundwater especially for non-essential uses year-round through employment of water conservation practices. Automatic sprinklers for ornamental landscaping must be equipped with rain sensor controls and operated without causing substantial runoff. All ornamental fountains and water features must be closed loop re-circulating systems. Stage 1 is a year-round conservation program.

b. Stage 2 - Incipient Dry Spell-Mild Drought

- 1. Water Reduction for Permitted Users Mandatory 10% reduction in groundwater use or as specified in the operating permit.
- 2. All other users must implement the following conservation practices
 - i. Outdoor lawn and landscape irrigation by hose-end sprinklers, automatic sprinklers, soaker hoses, or drip irrigation may not be performed between the hours of 10:00 A.M. and 8:00 P.M. Handheld hoses or hand-held buckets are allowed at any time. Automatic sprinkler systems must be equipped with rain sensors to prevent operation during periods of rainfall.
 - ii. Washing of automobiles, trucks, trailers, boats, airplanes, and other types of mobile equipment must be done with a hand held hose equipped with a positive shutoff valve, or at a commercial facility.
 - iii. Water troughs or any water receptacles with mechanical float controls shall be routinely inspected and properly maintained to prevent leaks and waste of water.

c. Stage 3 - Moderate Drought

1. Water Reduction for Permitted Users – Mandatory 20% reduction in groundwater use or as specified in the operating permit.

- 2. All other users must implement the following conservation practices. The conservation practices from Stage 2 shall remain in effect and mandatory.
 - i. No lawn and landscape irrigation is permitted between the hours of 10:00 A.M. and 8:00 P.M., nor on any Saturday or Sunday. Outdoor lawn and landscape irrigation shall only be allowed on the following days for residences with addresses ending in the numbers set out for each day:

Lawn and Landscape Watering Schedule

Monday	0 & 1	
Tuesday	2 & 3	
Wednesday	4 & 5	
Thursday	6 & 7	
Friday	8 & 9	

- ii. Use of groundwater to fill, refill, or add to any indoor or outdoor swimming pools, wading pools, or spa type pools is prohibited; except on designated watering days during the designated watering hours. When such facilities are not in use, some form of surface cover shall be used to limit the evaporation of water.
- iii. Filling or adding groundwater to any ornamental fountain or pond for aesthetic or scenic purposes is prohibited except on designated watering days during the designated watering hours.

d. Stage 4 - Severe Drought

- 1. Water Reduction for Permitted Users Mandatory 30% reduction in groundwater use or as specified in the operating permit.
- 2. The conservation practices from Stage 3 shall remain in effect and mandatory. When initiating this Stage, the Board may impose one or more of the following conservation practices.
 - i. All outdoor lawn and landscape irrigation, including the irrigation of new lawns and landscaping is limited to one day a week per the Lawn and Landscape Watering Schedule.
 - ii. The use of groundwater for washing sidewalks, driveways, parking areas, streets, tennis courts, or other paved impermeable areas, except to alleviate health or fire hazards is prohibited.
 - iii. The watering of the ground around foundation to prevent foundation cracking with groundwater is permitted only during

times designated for lawn and landscape irrigation, unless watering is accomplished by a drip system or a hand-held hose, then foundation watering may be done at any time.

- iv. The operation, other than for basic filtration and/or recirculation, of any ornamental fountain or pond for aesthetic or scenic purposes is prohibited. Filling of ponds, lakes, tanks, reservoirs, swimming pools or other surface impoundments with groundwater is prohibited. Groundwater may be added to pools to replace water lost due to use or evaporation during times when landscape irrigation is allowed.
- v. Washing of automobiles, trucks, trailers, boats, airplanes, and other types of mobile equipment, utilizing groundwater, is prohibited unless it is on the premises of a commercial car wash, service station, or a private facility that utilizes a recycled water system. Charity carwashes are prohibited.

e. Stage 5 - Extreme Drought

- 1. Water reduction for permitted users Mandatory 40% reduction in groundwater use or as specified in the operating permit.
- 2. The conservation practices from Stage 4 shall remain in effect and mandatory. When initiating this Stage, the Board may impose one or more of the following conservation practices.
 - i. Irrigation of lawns and landscaped areas shall be limited to once a week on the schedule designated in these rules as Lawn and Landscape Watering Schedule), and shall be by means of handheld hoses or hand-held buckets only. No hose-end sprinklers or automatic sprinklers are allowed at any time.
 - ii. Use of water from hydrants shall be limited to fire fighting, related activities, or other activities necessary to maintain public health, safety, and welfare.
 - iii. Use of groundwater for construction activities is prohibited, unless authorized by an operating permit.
 - iv. The irrigation of a domestic or home garden with groundwater shall be limited to an area of 5,000 square feet and shall be by means of drip irrigation, hand-held hoses with a positive shut off device or hand-held buckets only.

f. Stage 6 – Extreme Drought Emergency

1. Water Reduction for Permitted Users – Mandatory 50% reduction in groundwater use or as specified in the operating permit.

- 2. The following requirements are for community water systems and retail water utilities:
 - i. No additional, expanded or increase-in-size water service connections, meters, service lines, pipeline extensions, mains or water service facilities of any kind shall be allowed or approved if groundwater is used.
 - ii. In the event of system failure, the water supply will be managed by such measures necessary to maintain public health and safety, including elimination of service to part or all of the water system,
- 3. Irrigation of hay crops is prohibited, unless specified in an operating permit.
- 4. The conservation practices from Stage 5 shall remain in effect and mandatory. When initiating this Stage, the Board may impose one or more of the following conservation practices.
 - i. Irrigation of lawn and landscape areas is prohibited at all times.
 - ii. Use of water to wash any motor vehicle, motorbike, boat, trailer, airplane, or any other mobile vehicle is prohibited at all times.
 - iii. The filling, refilling, or adding of groundwater to private swimming, or spa type pools for any reason is prohibited.
 - iv. The issuance of new well drilling permits, operating permits and amendments may be suspended except to replace an existing well.
 - v. Other measures deemed necessary by the Board to protect public health and safety.

SECTION 8

INVESTIGATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT

Rule 8.1. Complaints and Investigations

- a. All complaints shall be submitted or recorded on a District complaint form. These forms are available at the District office. If a complaint is made verbally, by telephone, or in person, District personnel will ensure that the information is recorded on a District complaint form. The complainant must inform the District if the complaint claims to qualify as an "aggrieved party" under the citizen suit provision of Texas Water Code §36.119.
- b. For purposes of this Section and Texas Water Code § 36.119, an aggrieved party is a landowner or other person who has a right to produce groundwater from land that is adjacent to the land on which the well subject to the complaint is located, or who owns or otherwise

has a right to produce groundwater from land that lies within one-half mile of the subject well.

- c. A complainant may ask to remain anonymous, unless they want to qualify as an aggrieved party under the citizen suit provision of Texas Water Code § 36.119.
- d. District representative will investigate the complaint promptly and will record his findings in a written investigation report.
- e. A copy of the investigation report will be sent to the well owner or driller who is the subject of the complaint. If the complainant has provided his name and address, a copy of the investigation report will be sent to the complainant.
- f. Board Consideration of Investigation Reports.
 - 1. The investigation reports for all complaints must be presented to the Board for consideration not later than 90 days from the date of receipt of the complaint.
 - 2. Notice of the date, time, and location of the Board meeting at which the investigation report will be considered and a copy of the investigation report will be mailed to the well owner or driller who is the subject of the complainant by certified mail, return receipt requested, at least ten (10) days prior to the scheduled Board meeting.
 - 3. At the Board meeting, the Board will determine whether or not a violation has occurred. If the Board decides that there has been a violation, it may direct the District staff to issue a notice of violation or initiate civil enforcement.

Rule 8.2. Enforcement

- a. **Civil Enforcement.** As authorized by Texas Water Code Section 36.102, the violation of any District Rule shall be subject to a civil penalty not to exceed \$10,000.00 per day per violation, and each day of a continuing violation constitutes a separate violation. The Board may seek enforcement of such civil penalties against any person by injunction, mandatory injunction, or other appropriate remedy through a complaint filed in a court of competent jurisdiction. In addition, the District may seek, and the court shall grant against any person, recovery of attorney's fees, costs for expert witnesses, and any other costs incurred by the District before the court.
- b. **Notice of Violation.** The District shall send a notice of violation to a person who is believed to be in violation of law, including violation of a District Rule, order, or permit. The notice shall include a copy of the investigation report. The notice may require remedial action and may assess a penalty. The notice shall provide the opportunity for public hearing.
- c. **Penalty Schedule.** The District may assess penalties for non-compliance with District Rules including failure to comply with conditions of a permit issued by the District. Penalties may be assessed in accordance with the following schedule, up to the maximum jurisdictional limit of the District in effect at that time.

Schedule of Penalties for Non-Compliance

Minimum Penalty

Non-Compliant Action

Failure to notify District of drilling activity, location, date, and time.

\$250.00

Failure to obtain a drilling permit or drilling a well without a permit

\$1,000.00

Failure to notify District of date and time of setting casing and/or

\$250.00

annular space sealing

APPENDIX 1

RULE ADOPTION AND REVISION RECORDS

Date Adopted	Effective Date	Affected Section
Rules of the Emerald Underground Water Conservation District	September 14, 1992	Original
Rules of the Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District	July 1, 2013	A11

APPENDIX 2

Bylaws of the Crockett County Groundwater Conservation District